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Non-Invasive Investigation of Anglo-Norman Castle Sites in Co. Longford 
 
 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 

 

During the later 12th  to 13th  centuries, the modern county of Longford lay on the north- 

western edge of the lordship of Meath in a turbulent frontier area that bordered on the 

native Irish kingdoms of Connacht, Breifne and Ulster. Internally, within the bounds of the 

modern county, it would appear that elements of the Gaelic OΩFarrell sept were regularly at 

war with the Anglo-Norman colony. The historical sources suggest that the Anglo-Norman 

colony  in  Longford  was  continually  under  threat  and this  eventually  culminated  in the 

settlers being largely expelled from the area in the early 14th-century. In all, the Anglo- 

Norman colony in Longford was relatively short-lived and was always under pressure. 

(Fig. 1) 
 

The primary aim of this project was to see whether or not this turbulence is evident in the 

physical  remains  of  the  castles  erected  by  the  Anglo-Normans  in  Longford  during  this 

period. Most of the castles associated with the Anglo-Norman colony were mottes, whose 

defences and internal buildings were made of wood, but sometimes cob. (Fig. 2) 

The principle questions addressed in the project were: 
 

 

1.   Are  these  mottes  more  defensive  in terms  of  their morphology  and sit ing  than 

similar sites in more peaceful areas of the lordship of Meath? 

2.   Can  we  identify  a  reflection  of  the  turbulent  front ier  nature  of  Anglo-Norman 
 

Longford in the archaeology? 
 

3.   Is it possible that historical sources and historians have overestimated the militarised 

nature of society in Longford in this period? 

 

In summer 2012 a programme of archaeological survey was undertaken in the county by the 

authors  to  address  these  primary  questions  and to add to existing  archaeological  data 

gathered during earlier survey programmes undertaken in the last decade. The results of 

this survey programme are presented here together with some preliminary conclusions and 

recommendations for further targeted survey. 
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Fig. 1: Motte-and-bailey castles in Ireland (Longford lies on the western edge of the 

principal distribution group which emphasises its frontier location). 
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Fig. 2 Reconstruction of a small motte-and-bailey. 

2.0 PROJECT METHODOLOGY 

An initial two-week preliminary study of the prospective survey sites (both freestanding 
 

mottes and motte-and-baileys) was undertaken by the Project Director in conjunction with 

the Project Surveyor (Dr. Kieran OΩConor and Dr. Paul Naessens, NUI, Galway). The primary 

objective of the preliminary work was to select three suitable sites for full topographical 

survey using a Nikon Total Station and ArcGis processing software and also to select one of 

the three sites for further geophysical survey. It was proposed that the geophysical survey 

should be undertaken preferably at a freestanding motte site (one without a bailey) to 

ascertain if it once had an attached bailey and/or external buildings around its base.  A 

secondary objective of the preliminary study was to undertake some basic measurements 

and to reassess the classification of the recorded mottes and motte-and-bailey castles in Co. 

Longford. This information could then be used in conjunction with previous survey results 

and the data gathered during the topographical and geophysical survey programme of 2012 

to provide a better reading of the initial Anglo-Norman colony in Co. Longford. 

 

The second phase of the project involved the actual planning of three selected sites. This 

work was undertaken by two survey personnel (Dr. Paul Naessens and Mr. Eoin OΩConor) 

over a three week period in June and July of 2012. 

 

The third stage of the project was originally to undertake a single-site geophysical survey 

using a Bartington 601 dual-fluxgate gradiometer. However, as the survey programme was 

within budget, it was felt that this component of the project could be expanded to include 



6  

geophysical survey at three selected sites within the overall timeframe of the fieldwork. This 

work was undertaken by two survey personnel (Dr. Paul Naessens and Mr. Eoin OΩConor) in 

the first week of August 2012. 

 

The final stage of the project involved the analysis of the data. This was undertaken over a 

three week period in NUI, Galway by Dr. Paul Naessens in August 2012. 

 

The following report presents the results of the fieldwork programme and analysis 

undertaken in 2012 and uses this data in conjunction with previous studies to enhance our 

understanding of the short-lived Anglo-Norman colony in Longford/Annaly. 

 

 
3.0 ANGLO-NORMAN SETTLEMENT IN CO. LONGFORD 
 

 

3.1 Pre-Norman Sett lement in Co. Longford 
 

 

The modern county of Longford seems to have had its origins in the early medieval kingdom 

of Teathba, a territory lying to north of the River Inny. This kingdom was ruled by a branch 

of the powerful dynasty known collectively as the Southern Uí Neill. This branch, the Fir 

Tethba, (also known as the Cenél Maine) were driven out of north-east Teathba by another 

branch of the Uí Neill the Cenél Caipre as they expanded southwards into the area around 

the  modern  town  of  Granard  (MacCotter  2008,  200-1).  Further  movements  by  the 

Conmaicne of south Leitrim drove the Cenél Maine further south beyond the River Inny in 

the tenth and eleventh centuries. It was during this period that the OΩFarrells, probably a 

branch of the Conmaicne, emerged as the dominant sept in the region. They are mentioned 

as allies of the OΩRourkes of Breffny in the 1080s and were firmly established as the lords of 

the former kingdom of Teathba, now known as Annaly, by the twelfth century (O,Conor and 

Parker 2010, 77). While the general Longford region seems to have been a constituent part 

of the kingdom of Midhe (Meath) in the early medieval period, dominance over the later 

lordship of Annaly was hotly disputed between the regional over-kings of Connacht, Breffny 

and Midhe (Nicholls 2003, 180; Parker 2003, 8). It has been suggested that the instability 

created by this dispute enabled the OΩFarrells to establish a fair degree of autonomy in the 

region just prior to the arrival of the Anglo-Normans (Parker 2003, 8). The death of Tiernan 

OΩRourke, king of Breffny, at the hands of the Anglo-Normans during their early raids into 

the region in 1172 may also have helped the OΩFarrells consolidate their power in Longford 
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Byrne 1987, 36). The Ua Caipre of Caipre Gabhra  (the Granard area) and the OΩQuinns of 

Magh Treagha (the Clonguish area) were also important septs in Longford on the eve of the 

Anglo-Norman colonisation (MacCotter 2008, 201; Gearty, Morris and O,Ferrall 2010, 1). 

 

 

3.2 Anglo-Norman Sett lement in Longford 
 

 

The first generation of knights and colonists to arrive in Ireland from 1169 onwards came 

from South Wales and the Welsh border areas and as such could legitimately be termed 

ΨCambro-NormansΩ. Having developed their military skills to an advanced stage defending 

and expanding their lands in Wales, they rapidly colonised and controlled up to two -thirds 

of Ireland by  c.1240. This colonisation was no mere military campaign but involved an 

extensive restructuring of the landscape, creating manors, boroughs and villages while also 

introducing new agricultural practices. Another feature of this radical reordering of large 

parts of Ireland was the immigration of large numbers of English settlers to run the new 

estates and populate the new boroughs and villages. This influx of English peasant stock did 

not, however, result in any appreciable expulsion of the Irish natives with many apparently 

remaining on the land as tenants (often referred to as betaghs). 

 

In 1172, three years after the arrival of the Anglo-Normans, the lordship of Meath was 

granted to Hugh de Lacy by Henry II probably as a ploy to check the ambitions of Richard de 

Clare (Strongbow) (Orpen 2005, 103; Graham 1980, 39). HenryΩs 1172 visit to Ireland arose 

from his fear that the colonisation was drifting beyond his control and he felt that he might 

soon face a rival kingdom in Ireland headed by de Clare. His appointment of Hugh de Lacy, a 

noted Welsh warrior and military engineer, was intended to counterbalance this threat by 

establishing a large and powerful lordship in Meath (Orpen 2005, 103). While it is not clear 

whether Annaly was considered by all the native Irish rulers to be a legitimate part of the 

former kingdom of Meath, it is certain that de Lacy considered it to be part of his new grant. 

In 1172 he moved to consolidate his hold on the Longford region when he undertook raids 

into Longford/Annaly, killing Domnall OΩFarrell, ruler of the lordship and burning the 

episcopal see at Ardagh (OΩConor and Parker 2010, 78). At this time, or shortly after, he 

proceeded to parcel out tracts of land from his Meath to his principal vassals while also 

retaining large estates in demesne for himself. In the Longford region the principal followers 

of de Lacy to benefit from the subinfeudation were Richard de Tuite, who received a large 
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amount of territory in the Granard area, and William de Petit who gained lands in the Shrule 

area (Orpen 2005, 184-5). While details of how de Lacy and his vassals settled the region 

and brought it under their effective control are sketchy at best there are some indications 

that de Lacy himself was particularly skilled in the building of motte-and-bailey castles. 

However, it has been argued in the past that the initial land grants were speculative and 

that effective control and settlement only began to be established in the 1190s (Graham 

1980, 44-5, 52-3). It has also been suggested that Hugh de Lacy may have been directly 
 

involved  in  the  building  of  the  motte  and  bailey  castle  at  Lissardowlan  at  some  time 

between his return to Ireland as justiciar in 1177 and prior to his death in 1186 (OΩConor and 

De Meulemeester 2007, 83). Unfortunately, historical sources relat ing to this critical phase 

of the development of the colony are relatively rare, particularly for the Longford region, 

meaning that the exact process of encastellation and subinfeudation remain unclear. The 

earliest reference to an Anglo-Norman castle in Longford/Annaly is in 1199 when the 

aforementioned  Richard  de  Tuite  built  a  castle  at  Granard,  the  remains  of  which  are 

probably the fine motte-and-bailey extant in the modern town (Graham 1980, 52-3). While 

there are no surviving historical records for the building of other motte-and-bailey castles in 

Longford at this time, there are some references to castles (mainly mottes) being built in 

Westmeath during the 1190s (Graham 1980, 52-3). On the whole, the evidence seems to 

suggest that Hugh de LacyΩs initial raids and grants were not consolidated into productive 

manors until at least the late 1170s. Hugh himself spent much of his time outside of the 

country  unt il  1177  while  Irish  revolts  against  the  newcomers  made  any  wholesale 

pacification and settlement of the region difficult . On his return to Ireland de Lacy married 

the daughter of Rory OΩConor, king of Connacht, and proceeded to build many castles in his 

lordship, some of which are specifically named in the sources. At the time of his murder, 

when he was supervising the erection of a castle in Offaly, he was sufficient ly powerful as to 

be perceived as a threat by Henry II and had been described by one annalist the previous 

year as ΨKing of IrelandΩ (A.L.C. 1186; Orpen 2005, 177). It can be concluded then that it is 

unclear whether the first permanent Anglo-Norman settlement in Longford took place in the 

1177-86 period or in the later 1190s. The process of consolidation and development of 
 

these manors would, nevertheless, have continued well into the 13th century. 
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The  position  of  the  Irish  OΩFarrells  during  this  initial  sett lement  phase  is  not  well 

documented apart from the killing of Domnall OΩ Cŀrrell in 1172, but it is clear that they 

remained a major political force in the Annaly/Longford region and they were to regain full 

control of their former territories by the opening years of the 14th  century (Nicholls 2003, 

180-1). This is in many ways a remarkable feat given the surprising speed and scale of the 
 

Anglo-Norman sett lement within the county by the time of Walter de LacyΩs (HughΩs son and 
 

successor) death in 1241. 
 

 

The process of consolidation of the Meath lordship including Longford/Annaly appears to 

have continued under Walter de Lacy following his fatherΩs death and his grant of full seisin 

of Meath in 1194. He did suffer the loss of his castles and lordship however, in 1210 as a 

punishment for his support for William de Braose. King John undertook an expedition to 

Ireland in June 1210 to chastise the supporters of his former favourite de Braose who had 

fled  first  to Ireland  and  then  back  to  Wales.  Walter, who was  married  to de  BraoseΩs 

daughter Maud, and his brother Hugh, the earl of Ulster, were forced to flee into exile. 

Walter regained most of his castles in 1215 and was also granted Granard on the payment 

of a penalty of 4,000 marks (OΩConor and Parker 2010, 85). The Irish pipe roll of 1211-1212 

shows that the estates of the lordship of Meath including the Longford/Annaly portion were 

producing substantial profits suggesting that they were well established and stable manors 

by this time. On his return in 1220 de Lacy appears to have attempted to extend his lordship 

into Breifne (Leitrim and Cavan) which indicates perhaps that the consolidation of his Annaly 

estates was complete by this time. This effort was ultimately unsuccessful and also had the 

effect of mobilising the OΩConors under Aodh into raiding HughΩs Annaly lands. In 1224 Aodh 

burned the motte-and-bailey at Lissardowlan and massacred its mixed garrison of Anglo- 

Norman and Irish troops (A.L.C, A.C; Orpen 2005, 361-408). Walter had also to take the field 

against his own brother who was raiding into Meath as part of his rebellion against the 

crown in 1223-4. There followed a relatively peaceful and prosperous period for the area 

with later evidence suggesting that the OΩFarrells sett led under the Anglo-Normans paying 

an annual rent of £40 for their lands to the lord of Meath (OΩConor and Parker 2010, 87). 

Charter evidence from the 1230s supports the general picture of prosperity in the 1230s 

with the rural boroughs of Granard, Athleague and Lissardowlan all probably adding 

substantially to the coffers of the de Lacys and the de Tuites. It is felt that despite this 
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economic evidence for a settled landscape, there was a limited amount of English peasant 

settlement in the Longford/Annaly region, perhaps because of the remote, marcher nature 

of the lands. It has also been suggested that the above mentioned manors were locations 

for commercial interaction between the Gaelic Irish and Anglo-Norman worlds (OΩConor and 

Parker 2010, 87). 

 

Walter de Lacy died without any male heirs in 1241 and his estates in the lordship of Meath 

were divided between his granddaughters Margery and Matilda. The greater part of the 

Longford/Annaly lands were bequeathed to Margery who was married to John de Verdun. 

John de Verdun seems to have prospered throughout the following two decades but as part 

of the process of developing his lordship he began to interfere in the internal affairs of the 

Gaelic OΩFarrells. The longer term result of this attempt to manipulate in the OΩFarrellΩs 

affairs was deterioration in relat ions between the two strongest forces in the region in the 

1260s (A.F.M. 1262; OΩConor and Parker 2010, 93). This process has been portrayed as the 
 

beginning of the Gaelic resurgence in the region which eventually saw the collapse of the 

Longford  colony  in  the  early  years  of the  14th   century.  In  1271 John  de  VerdonΩs  son 

Nicholas was killed by Seffraidh OΩFarrell, Giolla na Naemh OΩFarrellΩs second son and 

successor (A.C. 1271). The accession of Aedh OΩConor, who was particularly hostile to the 

Anglo-Normans, to the kingship of Connacht in 1265 led to another period of turbulence in 

the Longford/Annaly area. Aedh regularly plundered the sett lersΩ lands and razed a number 

of castles prior to his death in 1274. Seffraidh OΩFarrell acceded to his fatherΩs chieftainship 

in 1274 and continued his efforts to undermine the Anglo-Norman colony in the closing 

decades of the 13th  century (OΩConor and Parker 2010, 93). While it is obvious that the 

Anglo-Norman colony in Longford was under pressure at the opening of the 14th century it 

might, as may other areas under English control, have survived were it not for the Bruce 

invasion of 1315. Edward BruceΩs three year campaign is generally regarded as being a 
 

decisive factor in the general failure and contraction of the Irish colony (Orpen 2005, 515- 
 

24). This is particularly true for the Longford/Annaly area which saw much fighting during 

the campaign with the colony collapsing completely shortly thereafter. Once more the 

principle  Anglo-Norman  lord  in  the  region,  Theobald  de  Verdon,  in  whose  nominal 

possession the majority of the Longford lands remained, died without a male heir, leaving 

his estates divided among four daughters and their husbands. It would seem that there was 
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litt le appetite among any of the benefactors for pursuing their rights in Longford by military 

means and from about 1320 onwards the colony appears to have been deserted or to have 

reverted to the original proprietors, the OΩFarrells (OΩConor and Parker 2010, 95). 

 

 
 
4.0 PRELIMINARY SITE SURVEY RESULTS 

 

 

The primary objective of the initial survey of the motte and of the motte-and-bailey castle 

sites in Co. Longford was to identify the most suitable sites for full topographical survey and 

also to select at least one site for geophysical survey. A desk based analysis of all recorded 

mottes (and baileys) in the county was undertaken followed by a programme of field survey 

which consisted of measurement of the main features of selected sites. (Fig. 3) Contact was 

also established at this time with all the relevant landowners and permission was sought to 

carry out the init ial survey work and subsequent topographical and geophysical survey at 

selected sites. The desk based analysis of the sites involved a search of the SMR database 

and plott ing the location of the recorded motte and motte-and-bailey sites in the county. 

This revealed that there are 8 freestanding mottes and 7 motte-and-bailey castles recorded 

in Co. Longford. 
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Fig. 3: Distribution of motte (and bailey) castles in Co. Longford. 
 

 

The eight freestanding mottes recorded in the SMR are located at- 
 

 

Ballinulty  Lower,  Castlecore,  Newtownbond,  Granardkill,  Aghanvally/ Parkplace,  Glen, 

Moatavally and Screeboge (See Fig. 3) 
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The seven motte-and-baileys recorded in the SMR are located at- 
 

Glebe, Moatfarrell, Tully, Lissardowlan, Lissard, Lisnagrish and Granard (See Fig. 3) 
 

 

A number of criteria were applied in the selection of suitable candidates for further survey 

following a preliminary visit to each of the sites in June 2012. Firstly, Granard and 

Lissardowlan were both eliminated from the list as they have both been the subject of 

individual detailed surveys within the last ten years. Castlecore, Newtownbond, Screeboge 

and Moatfarrell were not considered for full topographical survey as it was felt that they 

had all undergone substantial alteration and development in later centuries that radically 

altered the original morphology of the mottes and/or their baileys. Secondly, the sites at 

Ballinulty Lower, Glen and also that at Granardkill appeared to be of sufficiently doubtful 

provenance to allow them to be eliminated as suitable choices for further work. The site at 

Lissard was levelled and no surface trace remains of the former motte or bailey. While the 

site  at  Aghanvally/Parkplace  was  deemed  to be  a  prime  candidate  for detailed  survey, 

further access to the site was denied by the landowner following a preliminary visit to the 

site. The lack of co-operation in this single case was unfortunate because, as is outlined 

below, this particular site had not been previously fully recorded and was one of the best 

preserved and finest examples of a motte and (double) bailey in the county. The landowner 

in the case of the freestanding motte at Moatavally was unavailable at the time of the 

preliminary survey so no permission could be sought to conduct further work at the site. 

This site was subsequently revisited in August but had, at the time of the first survey, to be 

discounted from the fuller survey candidates. At this stage only three sites remained from 

the original list that could be deemed suitable on all grounds for full topographical survey. 

These sites were at Lisnagrish, Tully (Granard By.) and Glebe (Ardagh By.). Permission was 

sought and granted in all cases by the respective landowners for the work to be undertaken 

and the three surveys were completed over a three week period with the results being 

processed  and  assessed  in  the  following  three  weeks.  All  of  the  sites  visited  in  the 

preliminary survey were subjected to basic measurement and description and this data was 

compared to the SMR records for the monuments (See Appendix 1). In the greater majority 

of cases the measurements taken in the preliminary survey and the site descriptions and 

interpretations matched the data in the SMR record and therefore the basic measurements 

and  descript ions  are  not  repeated  here.  However,  in  two  cases  there  appeared  to  be 
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discrepancies between the site descriptions and the SMR records which warrant further 

discussion. In the case of Glebe while the description of the motte appeared to match the 

dimensions measured in the preliminary survey of 2012, those of the bailey did not. The 

SMR record for the site notes that- Ψ¢he bailey comprises a low, roughly square platform 

(11m NE-SW; 11m NW-SE) defined by a scarp (H 0.2-0.75m)Ω.1 While the general location of 

a possible bailey appeared to be correct to the preliminary survey personnel the dimensions 

did not appear to be correct for the bailey area or the supposed scarp. It was felt at the time 

of the visit that a much larger raised area to the east of the site could be construed to be a 

possible bailey, although at this point the existence of the bailey itself was still considered 

doubtful. It was felt that a full Total Station survey of this site might confirm the exist ence of 

the bailey while targeted geophysical survey might identify structural remains within the 

bailey should it exist. In the case of the motte at Aghanvally/Parkplace the discrepancy 

between the SMR record and the survey personneƭΩs interpretation of the site is quite 

marked. The following is the basic descript ion from the SMR- 

 

ΨWithin the interior of a possible rath (LF023-059001-). A steep-sided, oval earthen mound 
 

(H c. 7m; dims. at base c. 45m NNE-SSW; c. 40m WNW-ESE) with a flat-topped summit (c. 
 

32m N-S; c. 28m E-W). It is enclosed by a shallow fosse (Wth 6.3m; D 1.1m) with a very 

wide, low external bank of earth and stone (Wth 9.3m; H 1m) from SSE-N-NE. There is a 

causeway (Wth 4.25m) leading across the fosse and up to the top of the motte at SE. 

(CUCAP, AVO 49)Ω 2 

 

While the basic dimensions of the site appear correct, and it may be that the site was 

originally an early medieval rath, it was clearly, subsequently developed into a substantial 

motte and double bailey which was surrounded by a deep and wide spring-fed wet ditch. 

There are the remains of some stone revetment at the outer edge of this ditch to the north - 

west of the motte outside the smaller of what are believed to be the two baileys. The 

second larger bailey lies to the south-west of the motte. Only a very limited, provisional 

survey was possible at this site as the owner would not grant access to the survey team to 

undertake anything other than a cursory examination of the motte-and-baileys. It should be 

noted though that this site, perhaps out of all the sites examined in the provisional survey 
 
 

1 
SMR record number LF023-033 

2 
SMR record number LF023-059 
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programme appeared to have the greatest potential to aid our interpretation of the initial 
 

Anglo-Norman settlements in the county.  

 

5.0 TOPOGRAPHICAL SURVEY (TOTAL STATION) SITES  

5.1 Lisnagrish Motte-and-Bailey 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Plate 1: Lishnagrish motte-and-bailey (from the south). 
 

 

The motte and bailey at Lisnagrish, near Edgeworthstown is located in pasture land 

approximately 250m to the north of the N4 at the north-west end of a prominent ridge. The 

site at over 90m OD commands a fine view over the landscape in all directions and is inter- 

visible with other prominently sited motte and bailey castles in the region such as that at 

Granard. 
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Fig. 4: Location map of Lisnagrish motte-and-bailey 
 

 

The motte consists of a circular, steep-sided, flat-topped earthen mound (H c.4m; basal 

diam. c.15m) with some stone inclusions. On the summit of the mound (diam. c.7m) there is 

a hollowed out depression which may be the remains of a cellar feature of the original 

castle or may be the result of later disturbance. A shallow fosse or ditch separates the motte 

from the bailey which lies to the east of the motte. The bailey (c.28m NW-SE; c.22m NE-SW), 

is crescentic in plan and is enclosed by an outer fosse and low degraded bank which appears 

to be the remains of the earlier ΨLiosΩ into which the motte-and-bailey was built. There are a 

number of breaks visible in the outer bank and some damage is apparent to the motte itself 

both features possibly resulting from the felling of trees or from animal activity. At the 

northern side of the monument the outer bank follows the line of the ridge and merges with 

it. The land drops steeply to the north of the site to level pasture land. (Figs. 5, 6 and 7) 
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Fig. 5: Lisnagrish digital elevation model from survey3
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fig 6: Lisnagrish Hillshade Model from Survey. 
 
 
 

3 
Scales are only approximate on all terrain models as they are displayed in three dimensions. 
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Fig. 7: Lisnagrish motte-and-bailey contour map from survey (showing steep fall-off to the 

north). 



17  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Fig 8: Location map of Glebe motte-and-bailey. 

5.2 Glebe (Ardagh By.) Motte-and-Bailey 

The motte and possible bailey at Glebe is located on south-west facing slope in low-lying, 

marshy pasture, with reasonably extensive views in all directions. The motte consists of a 

small, oval, steep-sided, earthen mound (H c.4.6m; basal diam. c.26m ENE-WSW; c.21m 

NNW-SSE) with a relatively flat-topped summit (c.20m ENE-WSW; c.13m NNW-SSE). The 

south-west side of the motte appears to have suffered some damage caused by the removal 

or mining of substantial amounts of material from the mound. A shallow fosse separates the 

motte from the possible bailey, which lies to the north-east. The possible bailey (c.60m SW- 

NE; c.42m SE-NW) comprises a low, relatively level, wedge-shaped platform. The motte- 

and-bailey are encircled to the north-east and east by a wet, shallow fosse. The survey at 

Glebe  was  expanded  to  the  north to include  the  graveyard 40m  from  the  motte.  This 

graveyard contains the grassed-over remains of a medieval building, probably St. EicheΩs 

church of Kilglass. The presence of a church in close proximity to the motte-and-bailey 

suggests that Glebe was in the thirteenth century a manorial centre with the church serving 

the pastoral needs of the betaghs or English peasants. This relationship between medieval 
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church and motte-and-bailey castle is also apparent at Aghanvally/Parkplace where a similar 

graveyard containing a later medieval church survives 400m to the north-north-west of the 

motte and bailey in the townland of Taghsheenod. (Figs. 9 and 10) 

 

 
 

 

Fig. 9: Digital terrain representation of the spatial relationship between Glebe motte -and- 

bailey and the graveyard at Kilglass. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Fig. 10: Digital terrain model of Glebe motte-and-bailey from the north. 
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5.3 Tully (Granard By.) Motte-and-Bailey 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fig. 11: Location map of Tully motte-and-bailey. 
 

 

The motte-and-bailey at Tully is located to the west of the Edgeworthstown to Granard road 

on a prominent hill in good quality pasture. An 18th  to 19th-century demesne abuts the 

monument immediately to the west. The motte consists of a roughly circular steep-sided 

mound of earth with some stone inclusions (basal diam. c.32m NNW-SSE; 28.5m ENE-WSW; 

H c.4m). The top of the motte is relatively flat (9m NNW-SE; 7.5m ENE-SW). The slopes of 

the motte and the area directly around the monument are planted with mature sycamore 

and beech trees. The motte itself appears to have been terraced possibly as a landscaping 

feature in the 18th or 19th centuries. The wedge-shaped bailey (50.5m NW-SE; 29m NE-SW), 

defined by a scarp (H c. 0.2-2m), lies to the east-north-east of the motte. Tully motte is 

inter-visible with Granard to the north-east and also Lisnagrish to the south. (Figs. 11, 12 

and 13) 
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Fig. 12: Digital terrain model of Tully motte-and-bailey. (The demesne house directly abuts 

the model where the scale bar is located). 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fig. 13: Tully motte-and-bailey contour map from survey.  

 




